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Audited Financial Results for the year ended 31 December 2024 and Notice of Annual General Meeting
 
 
Beowulf (AIM: BEM; Spotlight: BEO), the mineral exploration and development company, announces its audited
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Period").
 
The Annual Report and Accounts will be tabled to shareholders at the 2025 Annual General Meeting ("AGM") of the
Company.  The 2024 Annual Report and the Notice of AGM and Form of Proxy will shortly be posted to those
shareholders who have requested a copy and will be available on the Company's website
(https://beowulfmining.com/).
 
The AGM of the Company will be held at 11:00 on Tuesday 24th June 2025  at the offices of Fieldfisher LLP at
Riverbank House, 2 Swan Lane, London, EC4R 3TT, United Kingdom. 
 
The Company encourages shareholders to submit their voting instructions in advance by proxy whether or not they
intend to attend. The "Notes" section of the Notice of AGM provides details on how to vote for Shareholders and
holders of Swedish Depository Receipt. 
 
Shareholders are invited to submit questions to the Board on matters to be discussed at the AGM in advance.
Questions can be submitted by email to co-sec@oneadvisory.london by 11:00 a.m. (BST) on 20 June 2025.
 
 
 
Enquiries:
 
Beowulf Mining plc
Ed Bowie, Chief Executive Officer                      ed.bowie@beowulfmining.com
 
Evli Plc
(Swedish financial adviser)
Mikkel Johannesen / Lars Olof Nilsson                  Tel: +46 (0) 73 147 0013
 
SP Angel
(Nominated Adviser & Joint Broker)       
Ewan Leggat / Stuart Gledhill / Adam Cowl          Tel: +44 (0) 20 3470 0470
 
Alternative Resource Capital
(Joint Broker)

https://beowulfmining.com/
mailto:co-sec@oneadvisory.london


(Joint Broker)
Alex Wood                                                             Tel: +44 (0) 20 7186 9004
 
BlytheRay        
Tim Blythe / Megan Ray                                         Tel: +44 (0) 20 7138 3204
 
 
 
 
Cautionary Statement
 
Statements and assumptions made in this document with respect to the Company's current plans, estimates,
strategies and beliefs, and other statements that are not historical facts, are forward-looking statements about the
future performance of Beowulf. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those using words such as
"may", "might", "seeks", "expects", "anticipates", "estimates", "believes", "projects", "plans", strategy", "forecast"
and similar expressions. These statements reflect management's expectations and assumptions in light of currently
available information. They are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to , (i)
changes in the economic, regulatory and political environments in the countries where Beowulf operates; (ii) changes
relating to the geological information available in respect of the various projects undertaken; (iii) Beowulf's continued
ability to secure enough financing to carry on its operations as a going concern; (iv) the success of its potential joint
ventures and alliances, if any; (v) metal prices, particularly as regards iron ore. In the light of the many risks and
uncertainties surrounding any mineral project at an early stage of its development, the actual results could differ
materially from those presented and forecast in this document. Beowulf assumes no unconditional obligation to
immediately update any such statements and/or forecast.
 
 

 

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

 

Dear Shareholders ,

 

I  am pleased to introduce the Annual  Report for 2024. 

 

The Company has  con�nued to make excel lent progress  at i ts  two core assets . At the Kal lak project, s ignificant progress

has  been made with the P FS. Metal lurgical  test-work has  demonstrated that Kal lak has  the poten�al  to produce a market-

leading concentrate that should command a s ignificant premium as  the steel  industry con�nues towards  decarbonisa�on.

O ther elements  of the P FS have been concluded or s ignificantly advanced including the mineral  process ing, s i te

infrastructure and waste management. P repara�on for the Environmental  Permit appl ica�on has  a lso con�nued apace

with the ini�a�on of the publ ic consulta�on process . I t was  a  personal  pleasure and honour to a/end the town-hal l

mee�ng in Jokkmokk led by Kal lak P roject Director, Dmytro S iergieiev, and the Jokkmokk I ron team, supported by our

consultants . Engaging with the local  community is  cri�cal  to the future success  of the project to enable us  to ensure that

Kal lak is  developed into a  world class  modern mine for the benefi t of a l l  s takeholders .

 

The conclus ion of the GAM P  P FS in F inland fol lowing the year end marks  a  major mi lestone for Grafintec. The project has

demonstrated the poten�al  to produce ba/ery grade C S P G, reduce energy costs  and reagent usage and del iver extremely

robust economics . We con�nue to review op�mal  s i tes  for the GAM P  and progress  with the EI A ahead of the environmental

permit appl ica�on. The next phase of development for the GAM P  is  to undertake pi lot tes�ng and complete a  Defini�ve

Feas ibi l i ty Study ("DFS"). In paral lel  we are continuing to engage with a  number of potentia l  s trategic partners .

 

I n Kosovo and on our Nordic explora�on l icences, we have con�nued to develop and refine explora�on targets  through

low-cost mapping and surface sampl ing. W ith the focus  on advancing our core assets , we are con�nuing discuss ions  with

a number of potentia l  joint venture partners  including both large and intermediate mining companies .

 

O n 8 May 2025, we announced that we had successful ly ra ised S EK  28.1 mi l l ion (approximately £2.2 mi l l ion) before

transac�on related costs  in new equity to advance the Company's  assets . The objec�ve con�nues to be to demonstrate the

technical  and economic viabi l i ty of our assets , as  we have demonstrated with the GAM P  P FS, and ul�mately unlock their

underlying value. The market has  been chal lenging but the Company and i ts  assets  con�nue to make s ignificant strides  and

I remain confident that with the support of our shareholders  and stakeholders , the future for Beowulf i s  bright.

 



 

I  would l ike to thank our shareholders  and stakeholders  for their continuing support.

 

 

J Röstin

Non-Executive Chairman

22 May 2025

 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

 

2024 2023
Note £ £

Continuing operations
Administrative expenses (1,658,763) (2,501,263)
Impairment of exploration assets 8 (72,563) (350,158)

Operating loss (1,731,326)  (2,851,421)

Finance costs 3 (61,334) (197,724)
Finance income 3 3,404 7,923
Grant income 6 3,561 96,750
Fair value loss  on l i s ted investment 10 (3,313) -
Recovery of impairment on l i s ted investment - 6,563

Loss before tax (1,789,008)  (2,937,909)

Tax expense 5 - -

Loss for the year (1,789,008) (2,937,909)

Loss  attributable to:
Owners  of the parent (1,771,325) (2,863,959)

Non-control l ing interests
15

(17,683)
(73,950)

(1,789,008)  (2,937,909)

Loss  per share attributable to the ordinary equity holder of the
parent:
Bas ic and di luted (pence) 7 (5.13) (13.20)

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 

2024 2023
Note £ £

Loss for the year (1,789,008) (2,937,909)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange losses  aris ing on trans lation of foreign
operations

(958,163) (196,950)

(958,163) (196,950)

Total comprehensive loss (2,747,171) (3,134,859)

Total  comprehensive loss  attributable to:
Owners  of the parent (2,709,387) (3,032,416)
Non-control l ing interests 15 (37,784) (102,443)

(2,747,171) (3,134,859)



                                                                                                                                                                               

                                                                                                                                                                               

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 

Company Number 02330496 Note 2024 2023
£ £

ASSETS  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  
Intangible assets 8 16,023,022 14,873,326
Property, plant and equipment 9 56,685 87,755
Investments  held at fa i r value through profi t or loss 10 3,250 6,563
Loans and other financial  assets 11 5,138 5,209
Right-of-use assets 12 48,333 63,158

16,136,428 15,036,011
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables 13 192,512 152,004
Cash and cash equivalents 14 881,349 905,555

1,073,861 1,057,559

TOTAL ASSETS 17,210,289 16,093,570
 
EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital 16 12,356,927 11,571,875
Share premium 18 29,878,404 27,141,444
Capital  contribution reserve 18 46,451 46,451
Share based payment reserve 18 1,124,131 903,766
Merger reserve 18 425,497 137,700
Trans lation reserve 18 (2,395,934) (1,457,872)
Accumulated losses 18 (24,764,054) (23,235,514)

16,671,422 15,107,850

Non-control l ing interests 15 - 514,430

TOTAL EQUITY 16,671,422 15,622,280
 
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 19 508,124 433,662
Lease l iabi l i ties 20 20,727 22,575
Borrowings 21 - -

528,851 456,237
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease l iabi l i ties 20 10,016 15,053

10,016 15,053
TOTAL LIABILITIES  538,867 471,290
  
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 17,210,289 16,093,570

The financial  s tatements  were approved and authorised for i ssue by the Board of Directors  on 22 May 2025 and were

s igned on i ts  behal f by:

 

 

 

Mr Ed Bowie - Director

 

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 

Company Number 02330496 Note 2024 2023
£ £

ASSETS  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  
Property, plant and equipment 9 723 964
Investments  in subs idiaries 10 4,093,692 3,961,315
Investments  held at fa i r value through profi t or loss 10 3,250 6,563
Loans and other financial  assets 11 14,995,747 12,839,865

19,093,412 16,808,707



19,093,412 16,808,707
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables 13 20,150 49,155
Cash and cash equivalents 14 714,339 794,909

734,489 844,064

TOTAL ASSETS 19,827,901 17,652,771
 
EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital 16 12,356,927 11,571,875
Share premium 18 29,878,404 27,141,444
Capital  contribution reserve 18 46,451 46,451
Share based payment reserve 18 1,124,131 903,766
Merger reserve 18 425,497 137,700
Accumulated losses 18 (24,127,038) (22,276,683)
TOTAL EQUITY 19,704,372 17,524,553
 
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 19 123,529 128,218
Borrowings 21 - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 123,529 128,218
  
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 19,827,901 17,652,771

 

As  permi/ed by Sec�on 408 of the Companies  Act 2006, the income statement of the parent Company is  not presented as

part of these financial  s tatements . The parent Company's  loss  for the financial  year was  £1,956,618 (2023: loss  of

£2,959,228).

 

These financial  s tatements  were approved and authorised for i ssue by the Board of Directors  on 22 May 2025 and were

s igned on i ts  behal f by:

 

 

 

Mr Ed Bowie - Director

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Note
Share capital

£  

Share
premium

£  

Capital
contribution

reserve
£  

Share based
payment

reserve
£  

Merger
reserve

£

 
Translation

reserve
£  

Accumulated
losses

£  
Totals

At 1 January 2023 8,317,106 24,689,311 46,451 516,098 137,700 (1,289,415) (20,323,414) 12,093,837

Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - - - (2,863,959) (2,863,959)
Fore i gn e xcha nge
tra ns l a ti on

- - - - - (168,457) - (168,457)

Tota l  compre he ns i ve
i ncome - - - - - (168,457) (2,863,959) (3,032,416)

 
Transactions with owners
I s s ue  of s ha re  ca pi ta l 3,254,769 3,654,829 - - - - - 6,909,598

Cos t of i s s ue - (1,202,696) - - - - - (1,202,696)
Equi ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -
ba s e d pa yme nt
tra ns a cti ons

17 - - - 387,668 - - - 387,668

Ste p up i nte re s t i n
s ubs i di a ry 10

- - - - - - (48,141) (48,141)

At 31 December 2023 11,571,875 27,141,444 46,451 903,766 137,700 (1,457,872) (23,235,514) 15,107,850

 
Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - - - (1,771,325) (1,771,325)
Fore i gn e xcha nge
tra ns l a ti on

- - - - - (938,062) - (938,062)

Tota l  compre he ns i ve
i ncome

- - - - - (938,062) (1,771,325) (2,709,387)

Transactions with owners



Transactions with owners
I s s ue  of s ha re  ca pi ta l 732,725 3,657,859 - - - - - 4,390,584

Cos t of i s s ue - (920,899) - - - - - (920,899)
I s s ue  of s ha re  ca pi ta l  for
a cqui s i ti on of NCI

52,327 - - - 287,797 - - 340,124

Equi ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -
ba s e d pa yme nt
tra ns a cti ons

17 - - - 326,628 - - - 326,628

Ste p up i nte re s t i n
s ubs i di a ry

10 - - - - - - 136,522 136,522

Tra ns fe r on l a ps e  of
opti ons

- - - (106,263) - 106,263

At 31 December 2024 12,356,927 29,878,404 46,451 1,124,131 425,497 (2,395,934) (24,764,054) 16,671,422

 
The nature and purpose of the reserves  are detai led in Note 18.

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
 

 
 

Note

Share
capital

£  

Share
premium

£  

Capital
contribution

reserve
£  

Share based
payment

reserve
£  

Merger
reserve

£

 
Accumulated

At 1 January 2023 8,317,106 24,689,311 46,451 516,098 137,700 (19,317,455)

Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - - (2,959,228)
Tota l  compre he ns i ve  i ncome - - - - - (2,959,228)
 
Transactions with owners
I s s ue  of s ha re  ca pi ta l 3,254,769 3,654,829 - - -
Cos t of i s s ue - (1,202,696)
Equi ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nt
tra ns a cti ons 17 - - - 387,668 -

At 31 December 2023 11,571,875 27,141,444 46,451 903,766 137,700 (22,276,683)
 
Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - - (1,956,618)
Tota l  compre he ns i ve  i ncome - - - - - (1,956,618)
 
Transactions with owners
I s s ue  of s ha re  ca pi ta l 732,725 3,657,859 - - -
Cos t of i s s ue - (920,899) - - -
I s s ue  of s ha re  ca pi ta l  for a cqui s i ti on
of NCI

52,327 - - - 287,797

Equi ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nt
tra ns a cti ons 17 - - - 326,628 -
Tra ns fe r on l a ps e  of opti ons - - - (106,263) -
At 31 December 2024 12,356,927 29,878,404 46,451 1,124,131 425,497 (24,127,038)
 
 

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023
Note £ £

Cash flows from operating activities  
Loss  before income tax (1,789,008) (2,937,909)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 26,127 43,276
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 12 37,205 29,478
Equity-settled share-based transactions 17 326,628 387,668
Impairment of exploration costs 4 72,563 350,158
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment 9 778 643
Gain on disposal  of right of use assets - (58)
Finance income 3 (3,404) (7,923)
Finance cost 3 61,334 197,724
Grant income 6 - (96,750)
Fair value loss  on l i s ted investment 10 3,313 -
Unreal ised foreign exchange losses 102,813 86,637
Recovery of impairment on l i s ted investment - (6,563)



Recovery of impairment on l i s ted investment - (6,563)
(1,161,651) (1,953,619)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (39,177) 61,395
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 8,545 (277,400)

Net cash used in operating activi ties (1,192,283) (2,169,624)

Cash flows from investing activities  
Purchase of intangible assets 8 (2,265,113) (2,308,473)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 - (7,052)
Ini tia l  payments  for right of use assets (6,108) (33,121)
Grant receipt 6 152,941 96,750
Interest received 3 3,404 7,923

Net cash used in investing activi ties (2,114,876) (2,243,973)

Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issue of shares 4,246,105 4,373,056
Payment of share issue costs 16 (776,421) (704,587)
Lease principal 20 (24,945) (21,228)
Lease interest paid 20 (2,187) (2,420)
Proceeds from borrowings, net of i ssue costs 21 723,881 -
Repayment of loan principal 21 (699,172) -
Interest paid 21 (59,147) -

Net cash generated from financing activi ties 3,408,114 3,644,821

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  100,955 (768,776)
Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of year 905,555 1,776,556
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (125,161) (102,225)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  881,349 905,555
  
 

Major non-cash transactions

O n 9 Apri l  2024, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital  of Vardar Minerals  Limited in

exchange for shares  in the Company. The fa ir value of the cons ideration was £340,124.

 

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 

2024 2023

Note £ £
Cash flows from operating activities  
Loss  before income tax (1,956,618) (2,959,228)
Expected credit losses 11 467,651 1,001,537
Equity-settled share-based transactions 202,611 321,534
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 241 233
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment - 643
Impairment of investments  in subs idiaries 10 331,764 -
Finance income 3 (3,207) (7,655)
Finance cost 3 59,147 195,304
Fair value loss  on l i s ted investment 10 3,313 -
Unreal ised foreign exchange losses 102,813 86,637
Recovery of impairment on l i s ted investment - (6,563)

(792,285) (1,367,558)  

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 29,007 4,129
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (4,689) (88,052)

Net cash used in operating activi ties (767,967) (1,451,481)

Cash flows from investing activities  
Loans  to subs idiaries 11 (2,633,108) (2,757,113)
Interest received 3,207 7,655
Financing of subs idiary 10 - (250,000)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment - (1,006)

Net cash used in investing activi ties (2,629,901) (3,000,464)



Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issue of shares 4,246,105 4,373,056
Payment of share issue costs 16 (776,421) (704,587)
Proceeds from borrowings, net of i ssue costs 21 723,881 -
Repayment of loan principal 21 (699,172) -
Interest paid 21 (59,147) -

Net cash from financing activi ties 3,435,246 3,668,469

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  37,378 (783,476)
Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of year 794,909 1,667,840
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (117,948) (89,455)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  714,339 794,909
  
                                                                                                    

Non-cash transactions

Non-cash transactions  are as  disclosed in the Group Statement of Cash Flow.

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

1.    Material accounting policy information

 

Nature of operations

Beowulf Mining plc (the "Company") i s  domici led in England. The Company's  registered office is  201 Temple

Chambers , 3-7 Temple Avenue, London, EC4Y 0DT. These consol idated financial  s tatements  comprise the

Company and i ts  subs idiaries  (col lec�vely the "Group" and individual ly "Group companies"). The Group is

engaged in the acquis i�on, explora�on and evalua�on of natural  resources  assets  and has  not yet generated

revenues.

 

The principal  accoun�ng pol icies  appl ied in the prepara�on of these consol idated financial  s tatements  are

set out below:

 

Going concern

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a cash balance of £0.88 mi l l ion (2023: £0.91 mi l l ion) and the

Company had a cash balance of £0.71 mi l l ion (2023: 0.79 mi l l ion).

 

O n 21 March 2025, in conjunc�on with the Company's  right i ssue, the Company entered into a  short-term

bridging loan of S EK  10 mi l l ion (approx. £740k) with the underwriters  of the rights  i ssue to ensure that the

Company has  sufficient financial  resources  to con�nue advancing i ts  projects  ahead of the right i ssue being

final ised. The bridging loan accrues  interest of 1.5% per 30-day period, i s  subject to a  5% administra�ve

charge and is  repayable on 30 June 2025. The bridging loan is  due to be repaid us ing part of the proceeds from

the capital  ra ise on the right i ssue, noted below.

 

O n 8 May 2025 the Company announced the comple�on of the capital  ra ise with a  total  of £2.2 mi l l ion (S EK

28.1 mi l l ion) gross  ra ised to fund the development of the Company's  assets  through their next key valua�on

milestones. The net funds  raised aKer the loan repayment and share issue transac�on costs  are £1.0 mi l l ion

(see note 28).

 

Therefore, at the date of this  report, based on management prepared cashflow forecasts , further funding wi l l

be required within the next 12 months  to a l low the Group and Company to real ise i ts  assets  and discharge i ts

l iabi l i�es  in the normal  course of bus iness . There are currently no agreements  in place and there is  no

certainty that the funds  wi l l  be raised within the appropriate �meframe. These condi�ons indicate the

existence of a  materia l  uncertainty which may cast s ignificant doubt over the Group's  and the Company's

abi l i ty to con�nue as  going concerns  and therefore, the Group and the Company may be unable to real ise their

assets  and discharge their l iabi l i�es  in the normal  course of bus iness . The Directors  wi l l  con�nue to explore

funding opportuni�es  at both asset and corporate levels . The Directors  have a reasonable expecta�on that

funding wi l l  be forthcoming based on their past experience and therefore bel ieve that the going concern bas is



funding wi l l  be forthcoming based on their past experience and therefore bel ieve that the going concern bas is

of prepara�on is  deemed appropriate and as  such the financial  s tatements  have been prepared on a going

concern bas is .  The financial  s tatements  do not include any adjustments  that would result i f the Group and the

Company were unable to continue as  going concerns.

 

Basis of preparation

The consol idated and individual  Company financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with UK

adopted interna�onal  accoun�ng standards. The pol icies  have been cons istently appl ied to both the parent

Company and Group. The financial  s tatements  are presented in GB Pounds Sterl ing. They are prepared on the

historical  cost bas is  or the fa ir value bas is  where the fa ir valuing of relevant assets  and l iabi l i�es  has  been

appl ied.

 

Merger rel ief under s612 of the Companies  Act 2006 removes the requirement to credit the share premium

account and where the condi�ons are met, the rel ief must be appl ied. However, i t a l lows the investment to be

accounted for at the nominal  value of the shares  issued or the fa ir value of the cons idera�on. W here the

investment is  to be recorded at fa i r value, then the credit wi l l  be to the merger rel ief reserve.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

1.    Material accounting policy information (continued)

 

The conditions  to qual i fy for merger rel ief are:

·      the cons ideration for shares  in another company includes  issued shares;

·      on comple�on of the transac�on, the company issuing the shares  wi l l  have secured at least a  90%

equity holding in the other company.

 

Merger rel ief was  appl ied in acquis i�on of Grafintec and Vardar, in which the Company obtained 100% of the

share capital  of Grafintec and Vardar for shares  issued by the Company. Further detai ls  of these acquis i�ons

are outl ined in note 10.

 
New standards, amendments and interpretations

Standards and interpretations adopted during the year

 

I nforma�on on new standards, amendments  and interpreta�ons that are relevant to the Group and Company

annual  report and accounts  is  provided below:

 

·      Amendments  to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial  Statements  (Class i fication of Liabi l i ties  as  Current or

Non-current and Non-current Liabi l i ties  with Covenants)

·      Amendments  to IFRS 16 Leases  (Lease Liabi l i ty in a  Sale and Leaseback)

·      Amendments  to I AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and I F RS 7 F inancial  I nstruments: D isclosures  (Suppl ier

Finance Arrangements)

 

The Group did not have to change i ts  accounting pol icies  or make retrospective adjustments  as  a  result of

adopting these new standards  and amendments  and they did not have a materia l  impact.

 

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective

 

There are a  number of standards, amendments  to standards, and interpreta�ons which have been issued by

the IASB that are effective in future accounting periods  that the Group has  decided not to adopt early.

 

The fol lowing amendments  are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2025:

 

·      Amendments  to IAS 21 The Effects  of Changes  in Foreign Exchange Rates  (Lack of Exchangeabi l i ty)

 

The fol lowing amendments  are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2026:

 

·      Amendments  to IFRS 9 Financial  Instruments  (Amendments  to the Class i fication and Measurement of



Financial  Instruments)

·      Amendments  to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (Contracts  Referencing Nature-dependent Electrici ty)

 

The fol lowing amendments  are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2027:

 

·      IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial  Statements

·      IFRS 19 Subs idiaries  Without Publ ic Accountabi l i ty

 

Beowulf Mining Plc i s  currently assess ing the impact of these new accounting standards  and amendments .

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

 

The prepara�on of the financial  s tatements  requires  management to make judgements , es�mates  and

assump�ons that affect the amounts  reported for income and expenses  during the year and the amounts

reported for assets  and l iabi l i�es  at the balance sheet date. However, the nature of es�ma�on means that the

actual  outcomes could differ from those es�mates. The es�mates  and underlying assump�ons are reviewed on

an on-going bas is . Revis ions  to accoun�ng es�mates  are recognised in the period in which the revis ion is

made.

 

Sources of estimation and uncertainty

 

Exploration assets

The P itkäjärvi  l icence was renewed in 2021, expired on 26 Apri l  2024 with a  further extens ion granted on 26

June 2024. However, this  was  appealed but on 9 Apri l  2025, the Eastern F inland Administra�ve Court rejected

the appeal .

 

The l icences  for Mitrovica and Vi� expired on 27 January 2024. New l icence appl ica�ons were submi/ed, and

confirma�on of receipt was  provided on 22 February 2024, which remain subject to approval . W ith the l icence

appl ications  formal ly lodged with ICMM, no other party may apply for l icences  over the same area.

 

Management cons iders  that in the in majori ty of cases  the conditions  have been met and are confident

appl ications  or renewals  wi l l  be accepted by receiving authori ties . Therefore, no impairment is  cons idered

necessary.

 

The Board has  cons idered the impairment indicators  as  outl ined in the Group's  accoun�ng pol icies  and

having done so is  of the opinion that no impairment provis ions  are required for Group's  main assets , Kal lak,

Aitolampi , Mitrovica and Viti .

 

The l icence for Karhunmäki  was  not renewed when i t expired on 12 December 2024 and therefore has  been

ful ly impaired in the year (see note 8).

 

Development costs

 

Expenditure incurred on internal  development projects  i s  capital ised as  an intangible asset to the extent that

the technical , commercial  and financial  feas ibi l i ty can be demonstrated by the Group.  The Group have

assessed that the GAM P  project reached the development phase fol lowing the comple�on of the P FS in July

2023 and therefore a l l  costs  have been capital ised from this  date. Management cons ider the carrying amount

to be less  than the recoverable amount of the asset and therefore no impairment is  cons idered necessary.

 

Valuation of share-based payments

 

Accoun�ng for some equity-se/led share-based payment awards  required the use of valua�on models  to

es�mate the future share price performance of the Company. These models  require the Directors  to make

assump�ons regarding the share price vola�l i ty, ri sk free rate and expected l i fe of awards  in order to

determine the fa ir values  of the awards  at grant date (see note 17).



 

Expected credit losses

 

The Company, in applying the EC L model  under I F RS 9, must make assump�ons when implemen�ng the

forward-looking EC L model . This  model  i s  required to be used to assess  the intercompany loans  receivable

from subs idiaries  for impairment.

 

Es�ma�ons were made regarding the credit risk of the counterparty and the underlying probabi l i ty of default

in each of the credit loss  scenarios . The scenarios  iden�fied by management included P roduc�on, Divestment,

F ire-sale and Fai lure. These scenarios  cons idered technical  data, necessary l icences  to be awarded, the

Company's  abi l i ty to ra ise finance, and abi l i ty to sel l  the project. A reasonable change in the probabi l i ty

weigh�ngs  of both the downside scenarios  of fa i lure and fire-sale of 3% would result in further impairment of

£923,585 (2023: £789,297).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

1.    Material accounting policy information (continued)

 

Basis of consolidation

(i )            Subs idiaries  and acquis i tions

 

The consol idated financial  s tatements  incorporate the financial  s tatements  of the Company and en��es

control led by the Company (and i ts  subs idiaries) made up to 31 December each year.  Control  i s  recognised

where an investor is  exposed, or has  rights , to variable returns  from i ts  investment with the investee, and has

the abi l i ty to affect these returns  through i ts  power over the investee.

 

The results  of subs idiaries  acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of

comprehensive income from the effec�ve date of acquis i�on, or up to the effec�ve date of disposal , as

appropriate.

 

Non-control l ing interests  in subs idiaries  are presented separately from the equity a/ributable to equity

owners  of the parent Company. W hen changes  in ownership in a  subs idiary do not result in a  loss  of control ,

the non-control l ing shareholders ' interests  are ini�al ly measured at the non-control l ing interests '

propor�onate share of the subs idiaries  net assets . Subsequent to this , the carrying amount of non-control l ing

interests  i s  the amount of those interests  at ini�al  recogni�on plus  the non-control l ing interests ' share of

subsequent changes  in equity. W hen the subs idiary is  ful ly consol idated, the difference of the carrying amount

of the non-control l ing interest and the cons idera�on paid is  recognised directly in equity, a/ributable to the

parent (Refer to note 15). Total  comprehensive income is  a/ributed to non-control l ing interests  even i f this

results  in the non-control l ing interests  having a  defici t balance.

 

(i i )           Transactions  el iminated on consol idation

 

I ntra-Group balances  and any unreal ised gains  and losses  or income and expenses  aris ing from intra-Group

transactions  are el iminated in preparing the consol idated financial  s tatements .

 

Intangible assets - deferred exploration costs

Al l  costs  incurred prior to the appl ica�on for the legal  right to undertake explora�on and evalua�on ac�vi�es

on a project are expensed as  incurred. Each asset i s  evaluated annual ly at 31 December, to determine whether

there are any indications  that impairment exists .

 

Explora�on and evalua�on costs  aris ing fol lowing the appl ica�on and gran�ng of the legal  right, are

capital ised on a project-by-project bas is , pending determina�on of the technical  feas ibi l i ty and commercial

viabi l i ty of the project.  Costs  incurred include appropriate employee costs  and costs  pertaining to technical

and administrative overheads.

 

Exploration and evaluation activi ties  include:

             •       researching and analys ing historical  exploration data;

             •       gathering exploration data through topographical , geochemical  and geophys ical  s tudies;



             •       gathering exploration data through topographical , geochemical  and geophys ical  s tudies;

             •       exploratory dri l l ing, trenching and sampl ing;

             •       determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource;

             •       surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements; and

             •       conducting market and finance studies .

 

Administration costs  that are not directly attributable to a  speci fic exploration area are expensed as  incurred.

 

Explora�on costs  are carried at historical  cost less  any impairment losses  recognised. W hen a project i s

deemed to no longer have commercial ly viable prospects  to the Group, explora�on costs  in respect of that

project are deemed to be impaired and wri/en off to the statement of comprehensive income. O nce the

decis ion for investment is  taken, the assets  wi l l  be assessed for impairment and to the extent that these are not

impaired, wi l l  be class ified as  development assets . At the point that produc�on commences  these assets  wi l l

be depreciated. 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

1.    Material accounting policy information (continued)

 

Intangible assets - capitalised development costs

 

Development costs  that are directly a/ributable to the graphite anode materia l  process ing plant ("GAM P ")

project are recognised as  intangible assets  where the fol lowing cri teria  are met:

 

·      i t i s  technical ly feas ible to complete the intangible asset so that i t wi l l  be avai lable for use;

·      management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sel l  i t;

·      there is  an abi l i ty to use or sel l  the intangible asset;

·      i t can be demonstrated how the intangible asset wi l l  generate probable future economic benefi ts ;

·      adequate technical , financial  and other resources  to complete the development and to use or sel l  the

intangible asset are avai lable, and;

·      the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during i ts  development can be rel iably measured.

 

Directly a/ributable costs  that are capital ised as  part of intangible assets  include employee costs  and an

appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

 

Capital ised development costs  are recorded as  intangible assets  and amor�sed from the point at which the

asset i s  ready for use.

 

Impairment

Exploration assets

W henever events  or changes  in ci rcumstance indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable an asset i s  reviewed for impairment. An asset's  carrying value is  wri/en down to i ts  es�mated

recoverable amount (being the higher of the fa ir value less  costs  to sel l  and value in use) i f that i s  less  than the

asset's  carrying amount.

 

I mpairment reviews for explora�on costs  are carried out on a project by project bas is , with each project

represen�ng a poten�al  s ingle cash genera�ng unit. An impairment review is  undertaken when indicators  of

impairment arise such as :

 

(i )      unexpected geological  occurrences  that render the resource uneconomic;

(i i )     ti tle to the asset i s  compromised;

(i i i )    variations  in mineral  prices  that render the project uneconomic;

(iv)    substan�ve expenditure on further explora�on and evalua�on of mineral  resources  is  neither

budgeted nor planned; and

(v)     the period for which the Group has  the right to explore has  expired and is  not expected to be

renewed.

 



Development costs

 

Capital ised development costs  are reviewed for impairment where there is  an indica�on that the asset may be

impaired. Impairment indicators  include internal  and external  sources  of information.

 
Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical  cost less  accumulated depreciation.

 

Deprecia�on is  provided at the fol lowing annual  rates  in order to write off each asset over i ts  es�mated useful

l i fe.
Office equipment - 25 per cent on reducing balance
Computer equipment - 25 per cent on reducing balance
Motor vehicles - 20 per cent on reducing balance
Machinery and equipment - 20 to 25 per cent on reducing balance

 

The assets ' res idual  values  and useful  l ives  are reviewed, and adjusted i f appropriate, at each balance sheet

date.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 
1.    Material accounting policy information (continued)

 

Leased assets

W hen entering into a  contract the Group assesses  whether or not a  lease exists . A lease exists  i f a  contract

conveys  a  right to control  the use of an iden�fied asset under a  period of �me in exchange for cons idera�on.

Leases  of low value i tems and short-term leases  (leases  of less  than 12 months  at the commencement date) are

charged to the profi t or loss  on a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term in administrative expenses.

 

The Group recognises  right-of-use assets  at cost and lease l iabi l i�es  at the lease commencement date based

on the present value of future lease payments . The right-of-use assets  are amor�sed on a straight-l ine bas is

over the length of the lease term. The lease l iabi l i�es  are recognised at amor�sed cost us ing the effec�ve

interest rate method. Discount rates  used reflect the incremental  borrowing rate speci fic to the lease.

 

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments  in subs idiary undertakings  are stated at cost less  provis ion for any impairment in value.

 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents  include cash in hand, deposits  held at cal l  with banks, and other short term highly

l iquid investments  with original  maturi ties  of three months  or less .

 

Financial assets

The Group class ifies  i ts  financial  assets  at amor�sed cost and at fa i r value through profit or loss . 

Management determines  the class i fication of i ts  financial  assets  at ini tia l  recognition.

Amortised cost

The Group's  financial  assets  held at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables , cash and cash

equivalents  and loans  and other financial  assets  in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition.

 
These assets  are non-deriva�ve financial  assets  with fixed or determinable payments  that are not quoted in an

ac�ve market.  They arise principal ly through financial  assets  where the objec�ve is  to hold their assets  in

order to col lect contractual  cash flows and the contractual  cash flows are solely payments  of the principal

and interest. They are ini�al ly recognised at fa i r value plus  transac�on costs  that are directly a/ributable to

their acquis i�on or i ssue and are subsequently carried at amor�sed cost us ing the effec�ve interest rate

method, less  provis ion for impairment.

 

I mpairment provis ions  for trade receivables  are recognised based on the s impl ified approach within I F RS 9

us ing the l i fe�me EC Ls. During this  process  the probabi l i ty of the non-payment of the trade receivables  is

assessed. This  probabi l i ty i s  then mul�pl ied by the amount of the expected loss  aris ing from default to

determine the l i fe�me EC L for the trade receivables . For trade receivables , which are reported net; such



determine the l i fe�me EC L for the trade receivables . For trade receivables , which are reported net; such

provis ions  are recorded in a  separate provis ion account with the loss  being recognised within administra�ve

expenses  in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income. O n confirma�on that the trade receivable

wi l l  not be col lectable, the gross  carrying value of the asset i s  wri tten off against the associated provis ion.

 

Expected credit loss  provis ions  for other receivables  are recognised based on a forward-looking expected

credit loss  model . The methodology used to determine the amount of the provis ion is  based on whether there

has  been a s ignificant increase in credit risk s ince ini�al  recogni�on of the financial  asset. For those where

the credit risk has  not increased s ignificantly s ince ini�al  recogni�on of the financial  asset, twelve month

expected credit losses  a long with gross  interest income are recognised. For those for which credit risk has

increased s igni ficantly, l i fetime expected credit losses  a long with the gross  interest income are recognised. For

those that are determined to be credit impaired, l i fe�me expected credit losses  a long with interest income on a

net bas is  are recognised.

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

1.    Material accounting policy information (continued)

 

Fair value through profit or loss

 

The Group's  financial  assets  held at fa i r value through profit or loss  comprise equity investments  held. These

are carried in the statement of financial  pos i�on at fa i r value (refer to fa i r value hierarchy below). Subsequent

to ini tia l  recognition, changes  in fa i r value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

 

Financial liabilities

The Group's  financial  l iabi l i�es  include trade and other payables  and borrowings. Al l  financial  l iabi l i�es  are

recognised ini�al ly at fa i r value, net of transac�on costs  incurred, and are subsequently stated at amor�sed

cost, us ing the effective interest method.

 

Borrowings  include conver�ble debt with se/lement terms that fa i l  the fixed for fixed cri terion and are treated

as  containing an embedded deriva�ve l iabi l i ty, where this  i s  recognised the loan value is  a l located between

the deriva�ve value and the loan res idual  which is  carried at amor�sed cost. Borrowings  are derecognised

when the obl igation is  extinguished.

 

Unless  otherwise indicated, the carrying values  of the Group's  financial  l iabi l i�es  measured at amor�sed cost

represents  a  reasonable approximation of their fa i r values.

 

Share capital

Financial  instruments  issued by the Group are class ified as  equity only to the extent that they do not meet the

defini tion of a  financial  l iabi l i ty or financial  asset.

 

Equity instruments  issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct i ssue costs . 

W here equity instruments  are issued as  part of an acquis i�on they are recorded at their fa i r value on the date

of acquis i tion.

 

The Group's  ordinary shares  are class i fied as  equity instruments .

 

Taxation

Current tax, including UK  corpora�on tax and foreign tax, i s  provided at amounts  expected to be paid (or

recovered) us ing the tax rates  and laws that have been enacted or substan�vely enacted by the balance sheet

date.

 

Deferred tax is  recognised, us ing the l iabi l i ty method, in respect of temporary differences  between the carrying

amount of the Group's  assets  and l iabi l i ties  and their tax base.

 

Deferred tax assets  and deferred tax l iabi l i�es  are offset, i f a  legal ly enforceable right exists  to set off current



tax assets  against current tax l iabi l i�es  and the deferred taxes  relate to the same taxable en�ty and the same

taxa�on authori ty. Any remaining deferred tax asset i s  recognised only when, on the bas is  of a l l  avai lable

evidence, i t can be regarded as  probable that there wi l l  be suitable taxable profits , within the same

jurisdiction, in the foreseeable future against which the deductible temporary di fference can be uti l i sed.

 

Deferred tax is  determined us ing tax rates  that are expected to apply in the periods  in which the asset i s

real ised or l iabi l i ty se/led, based on tax rates  and laws that have been enacted or substan�vely enacted by

the balance sheet date.

 

Current and deferred tax is  recognised in the profit or loss , except when the tax relates  to i tems charged or

credited directly in equity, in which case the tax is  a lso recognised directly in equity.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

1.    Material accounting policy information (continued)

 

Foreign currencies

The individual  financial  s tatements  of each Group en�ty are presented in the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the en�ty operates  (i ts  func�onal  currency).  For the purpose of the

consol idated financial  s tatements , the results  and financial  pos i�on of each en�ty are expressed in GB

Pounds Sterl ing which is  the presenta�on currency for the Group and Company financial  s tatements .  The

functional  currency of the Company is  the GB Pounds Sterl ing.

 

I n preparing the financial  s tatements  of the individual  en��es, transac�ons in currencies  other than the

en�ty's  func�onal  currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates  of exchange prevai l ing on the dates

of the transac�ons.  At each balance sheet date, monetary i tems denominated in foreign currencies  are

retrans lated at the rates  prevai l ing at the balance sheet date.

 

Exchange differences  aris ing on the se/lement of monetary i tems and on the retrans la�on of monetary i tems

are included in the statement of comprehensive income for the period.

 

For the purpose of presen�ng consol idated financial  s tatements , the assets  and l iabi l i�es  of the Group's

foreign opera�ons are expressed in GB Pounds Sterl ing us ing exchange rates  prevai l ing at the balance sheet

date. I ncome and expense i tems are trans lated at the average exchange rates  for the period.  Exchange

differences  aris ing, i f any, are class ified as  other comprehensive income and are transferred to the Group's

trans lation reserve.

 

Foreign currency movements  aris ing from the Group's  net investment, which comprises  equity and long-term

debt, in subs idiary companies  whose func�onal  currency is  not the GB Pounds Sterl ing are recognised in the

trans la�on reserve, included within equity un�l  such �me as  the relevant subs idiary company is  sold,

whereupon the net cumula�ve foreign exchange difference rela�ng to the disposal  i s  transferred to profit and

loss .

 

Share-based payment transactions

W here equity se/led share op�ons are awarded to employees, the fa ir value of the op�ons at the date of grant

is  charged to the income statement over the ves�ng period.  Non-market ves�ng condi�ons are taken into

account by adjus�ng the number of equity instruments  expected to vest at each balance sheet date so that,

ul�mately, the cumula�ve amount recognised over the ves�ng period is  based on the number of op�ons that

eventual ly vest.  Market ves�ng condi�ons are factored into the fa ir value of a l l  op�ons granted.  As  long as

al l  other ves�ng condi�ons are sa�sfied, a  charge is  made i rrespec�ve of whether market ves�ng condi�ons

are satis fied.  The cumulative expense is  not adjusted for fa i lure to achieve a market vesting condition.

 

W here terms and condi�ons of op�ons are modified before they vest, the increase in the fa ir value of the

op�ons, measured immediately before and aKer the modifica�on, i s  a lso charged to the income statement

over the remaining vesting period.

 

W here equity instruments  are granted to persons  other than employees, the income statement or share



W here equity instruments  are granted to persons  other than employees, the income statement or share

premium account, i f appropriate, are charged with the fa ir value of goods and services  received. W here the

equity instrument is  cancel led or lapsed, the Group shal l  account for the cancel la�on as  an accelera�on of

ves�ng, and shal l  therefore recognise immediately the amount that otherwise would have been recognised for

services  received over the remainder of the vesting period.

 

Government grants

Government grants  received on capital  expenditure are general ly deducted in arriving at the carrying amount

of the asset purchased. Grants  for revenue expenditure are recorded gross  in the Group income statement.

 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

2.    Employees and directors

 
 Group Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023
 £ £ £ £
 
Wages and salaries 737,809 1,156,604 364,350 637,755
Social  securi ty costs 135,158 182,611 42,989 56,454
Other benefi ts 14,947 20,832 10,500 15,401

887,914 1,360,047 417,839 709,610

 

Directors ' remuneration is  as  fol lows:

 
2024 2023

 £ £
 
Directors ' emoluments , including salary and fees 374,850 443,157
Payments  for loss  of office - 210,000
Share-based payments 202,611 321,534

577,461 974,691

 

Further detai ls  pertaining to Directors ' remuneration can be found in the Directors ' remuneration report on

page 32.

 

The remunera�on of the highest paid Director who served during the year was  Ed Bowie which cons isted of

base salary of £210,000 (2023: £210,000).

 

The average monthly number of employees  and Directors  during the year was  as  fol lows:

 

Group Group Company Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

Number Number Number Number

Directors 4 3 4 3
Employees 12 12 - -

 

 

3.    Finance income and costs

 

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

£ £ £ £
Finance income:
Deposit account interest 3,404 7,923 3,207 7,655

3,404 7,923 3,207 7,655

Finance costs :
Interest on lease l iabi l i ties 2,187 2,420 - -
Interest on loans  and borrowings 59,147 195,304 59,147 195,304

61,334 197,724 59,147 195,304

 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 
4.    Loss before tax and auditor's remuneration

 

a.     The loss  before tax is  s tated after charging:
2024 2023

£ £

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 9) 26,127 43,276
Amortisation of right-of-use asset (note 12) 37,205 29,478
Share-based payment expense (note 17) 326,628 387,668
Foreign exchange di fferences (7,792) 58,035
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment (note 9) 778 643
Gain on disposal  of right of use assets  (note 12) - (58)
Fair value loss  on l i s ted investment (note 10) 3,313 -

Recovery of impairment on l i s ted investments1 - (6,653)
Impairment of exploration costs  (note 8) 72,563 350,158

 

1Recovery of impairment on listed investments related to shares held in Marula Mining Plc, which were previously

impaired in full.

 

b.     Auditor's  remuneration
2024 2023

£ £
Fees  payable to the Group's  auditor for the audit of the consol idated
financial  s tatements 74,260 103,290
Fees  payable to the Group auditor for other services:
- review of quarterly financial  s tatements 3,730 3,240

77,990 106,530

 

5.    Income tax

 

Analysis of tax expense

 

No l iabi l i ty to UK  corpora�on tax arose on ordinary ac�vi�es  for the year ended 31 December 2024 or for the

year ended 31 December 2023.

 

Factors affecting the tax expense

 

The tax assessed for the year is  lower than the standard rate of corpora�on tax in the UK . The difference is

explained below:
2024 2023

£ £

Loss  on ordinary activi ties  before income tax (1,789,008) (2,937,909)

Tax thereon at a  UK corporation tax rate of 25% (2023: 23.5%) (447,252) (690,409)
Effects  of:
Non-deductible expenditure 50,713 75,615
Tax losses  not recognised 247,705 390,715
Losses  of overseas  subs idiaries  to be carried forward  148,834 224,079

- -

 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

5.    Income tax (continued)

 

The main rate of UK  corpora�on tax for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 25 per cent. The main rate of UK

corpora�on tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to 1 Apri l  2023 was 19 per cent. From 1 Apri l

2023, the main rate of UK  corpora�on tax increased to 25 per cent, resul�ng in an effec�ve tax rate of 23.5%

for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group has  es�mated UK  losses  of £17,647,092 (2023: £16,656,271)

and foreign losses  of £7,213,879 (2023: £5,780,656) avai lable to carry forward against future trading profits .

The value of unrecognised deferred tax assets  in respect of the UK  losses  amounts  to £4,411,773 (2023:

£4,164,068) and foreign losses  of £1,219,080 (2023: £1,041,936). The Directors  bel ieve that due to the



uncertainty over when the tax losses  wi l l  be u�l ised i t i s  appropriate not to recognise a  deferred tax asset at

this  time.

 

6.    Grant income

 
2024 2023

£ £

Business  Finland 3,395 96,750
Other 166 -

3,561 96,750

 

Grafintec is  par�cipa�ng in project �tled "BATCircle - the development of a  F inland-based C ircular Ecosystem

of Ba/ery Metals".  BATCircle is  part of the European Union ("EU") Strategic Energy Technology P rogramme. The

project i s  administered by Bus iness  F inland and contributes  50 per cent towards  a  budget of €791,000

(approximately £700,000) for P hase 2. The funding is  released by the administrator as  incurred with P hase 2

running for the ini�al  period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023, however, this  was  extended to 31

O ctober 2024. A total  of €530,000 grant funding was received from Business  F inland for P hase 2. I n the year to

31 December 2024, £3,395 has  been recognised as  grant income (2023: £96,750), this  has  decreased from the

prior year due to grant income being capital ised against the related development costs , which met the cri teria

for capital isation during the year (see note 8).

 

7.    Basic and diluted loss per share

 

The calcula�on of bas ic and di luted loss  per share at 31 December 2024 was based on the loss  a/ributable to

ordinary shareholders  of £1,771,315 (2023: £2,863,959) and a weighted average number of O rdinary Shares

outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2024 of 34,550,117 (2023: 21,699,167) calculated as  fol lows:

 
2024 2023

£ £

Loss  attributable to ordinary shareholders  (1,771,315) (2,863,959)

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
2024 2023

Number Number

Number of shares  in issue at the beginning of the year 21,699,167 16,634,213
Effect of shares  issued during year 12,850,950 5,064,954
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue for the year 34,550,117 21,699,167

 

The di luted earnings  per share is  iden�cal  to the bas ic loss  per share as  the exercise of warrants  and op�ons

would be anti -di lutive.

 
The weighted average number presented for the year ended 31 December 2023 above and the year ending 31
December 2023 in the statement of comprehensive income have been adjusted for the effect of a  50 to 1 share
consol idation.

 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

8.    Intangible assets - Group

 

Exploration
costs

Other
intangible

assets Total
 £ £ £
COST
At 1 January 2023 13,002,465 - 13,002,465
Additions  for the year - cash 2,232,694 75,779 2,308,473
Additions  for the year - non-cash 98,208 - 98,208
Foreign exchange movements (185,376) (286) (185,662)
Impairment (350,158) - (350,158)
At 31 December 2023 14,797,833 75,493 14,873,326

At 1 January 2024 14,797,833 75,493 14,873,326
Additions  for the year - cash 1,644,552 620,561 2,265,113
Additions  for the year - non-cash 107,402 - 107,402
Grant income received - (180,644) (180,644)



Grant income received - (180,644) (180,644)
Foreign exchange movements (955,907) (13,705) (969,612)
Impairment (72,563) - (72,563)
At 31 December 2024 15,521,317 501,705 16,023,022

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2024 15,521,317 501,705 16,023,022
At 31 December 2023 14,797,833 75,493 14,873,326

 

The net book value of exploration costs  i s  comprised of expenditure on the fol lowing projects :

 
2024 2023

£ £

Kal lak 10,271,536 9,481,130
Pitkäjärvi 1,627,258 1,667,854
Karhunmaki - 55,935
Rääpysjärvi 188,016 174,060
Luopioinen 7,157 4,812
Emas 48,898 41,693
Pirttikoski 7,347 -
Mitrovica 2,425,900 2,527,239
Viti 663,106 680,331
Shala 282,099 164,779

15,521,317 14,797,833

 

Total  Group exploration costs  of £15,521,317 (2023: £14,797,833) are currently carried at cost in the financial

statements . The Group wi l l  need to raise funds  and/or bring in joint venture partners  to further advance

explora�on and development work. An amount of £236,112 was recorded against the projects  for services

provided by the Directors  during the year (2023: £183,034).

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

8.    Intangible assets - Group (continued)

 

I n Sweden, during the year, the Supreme Administra�ve Court del ivered the verdict to uphold the Government's

awarding of the Exploita�on Concess ion for Kal lak. Management have cons idered that there is  no current risk

associated with Kal lak and thus  have not impaired the project.

 

I n F inland, the development of downstream capabi l i�es  is  a  key part of Grafintec's  strategy. During the year,

test work in support of the GAM P  P FS con�nued, with the P FS results  announced in early 2025, demonstra�ng

extremely pos itive economics .

 

To support a  sustainable graphite anode value chain in F inland, Grafintec is  focused on expanding i ts

resource footprint and increas ing i ts  raw materia ls ' inventory, primary and recycled, feeding downstream

process ing, leveraging renewable power, targeting net zero CO2 emiss ions  across  the supply chain.

 

The Company's  most advanced natural  flake graphite project, Ai tolampi , has  an I ndicated and I nferred

Mineral  Resource of 26.7 Mt at 4.8 per cent TGC for 1,275,000 tonnes  of contained graphite.

 

I n Kosovo, Vardar has  three explora�on l icence areas, Mitrovica, Vi� and Shala.  P rogress  con�nues to be

made in Kosovo, with the focus  on the Shala area. During the year ended 31 December 2024 the Company has

also consol idated 100% interest in Vardar, providing ful l  operational  control .

 

The focus  of ac�vity in 2024 was  low-cost mapping and surface sampl ing to define and refine explora�on

targets .

 

I n the year, an impairment provis ion of £72,563 was recognised for project costs  capital ised for projects  at

Karhunmäki  (2023: £350,158 in projects  Ågås j iegge and Åtvidaberg). I n respect of the other l icence areas, no

impairment indicators  have been iden�fied. The impairment is  charged as  an expense and included within the

consol idated income statement.

 



O ther intangible assets  capital ised are development costs  incurred fol lowing the feas ibi l i ty of GAM P  project.
This  development has  a/ained a stage that i t sa�sfies  the requirements  of I AS 38 to be recognised as
intangible asset in that i t has  the poten�al  to completed and used, provide future economic benefits , i ts  costs
can be measured rel iably and there is  the inten�on and abi l i ty to complete. The development costs  wi l l  be held
at cost less  impairment un�l  the comple�on of the GAM P  project at which stage they wi l l  be transferred to the
value of the Plant and depreciated.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

9.    Property, plant and equipment

 

Group

Office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Machinery
&

equipment
Computer

equipment Total
£ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2023 2,953 148,696 133,846 1,499 286,994
Additions - - 6,046 1,006 7,052
Disposals - - - (1,499) (1,499)
Reclass i fication 1,806 (7,330) 5,524 - -
Foreign exchange movements (126) (6,151) (5,255) - (11,532)
At 31 December 2023 4,633 135,215 140,161 1,006 281,015

Depreciation
At 1 January 2023 2,829 79,589 74,197 665 157,280
Charge for year 741 19,416 22,886 233 43,276
Disposals - - - (856) (856)
Foreign exchange movements (102) (3,586) (2,752) - (6,440)
At 31 December 2023 3,468 95,419 94,331 42 193,260

 

Group                                                                                                                 

Office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Machinery
&

equipment
Computer

equipment Total
£ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2024 4,633 135,215 140,161 1,006 281,015
Disposals (3,179) - (1,950) - (5,129)
Foreign exchange movements (146) (7,664) (8,318) - (16,128)
At 31 December 2024 1,308 127,551 129,893 1,006 259,758

Depreciation
At 1 January 2024 3,468 95,419 94,331 42 193,260
Charge for year 390 12,069 13,427 241 26,127
Disposals (2,401) - (1,950) - (4,351)
Foreign exchange movements (149) (5,416) (6,398) - (11,963)
At 31 December 2024 1,308 102,072 99,410 283 203,073

 
Net book value
At 31 December 2024 - 25,479 30,483 723 56,685
At 31 December 2023 1,165 39,796 45,830 964 87,755

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

9.    Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 

Company
Computer

equipment Total
£ £

Cost
At 1 January 2023 1,499 1,499
Additions 1,006 1,006
Disposals (1,499) (1,499)
At 31 December 2023 1,006 1,006

Depreciation



Depreciation
At 1 January 2023 665 665
Charge for year 233 233
Disposals (856) (856)
At 31 December 2023 42 42

 

Company
Computer

equipment Total
£ £

Cost
At 1 January 2024 1,006 1,006
At 31 December 2024 1,006 1,006

Depreciation
At 1 January 2024 42 42
Charge for year 241 241
At 31 December 2024 283 283

 
Net book value
At 31 December 2024 723 723
At 31 December 2023 964 964

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

10.  Investments

 
Group and

Company Company
l isted shares  in

investments subs idiaries
£ £

Cost
At 1 January 2023 - 3,645,181
Acquis i tions - 316,134
Recovery of impairment 6,563 -
At 31 December 2023 6,563 3,961,315

At 1 January 2024 6,563 3,961,315
Acquis i tions - 464,141
Impairment - (331,764)
Fair value losses (3,313) -
At 31 December 2024 3,250 4,093,692

 

Listed investments

 

The l i s ted investment includes  equity investment in Marula Mining Plc which is  held at fa i r value.

 

Shares in subsidiaries

 

Further investments  in the share capital  of subs idiaries  of Vardar cons�tute addi�ons during the year of

£340,124 (2023: £250,000) to increase the Company's  shareholding in Vardar from 61.1% to 100%. The share

capital  of Vardar was  reclass ified to share capital  of subs idiaries  fol lowing control  being obtained on 1 Apri l

2019. The bas is  for control  was  assessed on the on the Group's  abi l i ty to exercise power over Vardar through

combina�on of the increased investment in Vardar and the appointment of the C EO  as  I nvestor Director, which

conveyed substan�ve rights  to direct the ac�ons of Vardar that would ul�mately affect the returns  of the

investee.

 

The addi�onal  investment during the year includes  a  share-based payment expense of £124,017 in rela�on to

share options  granted to employees  of the Company's  subs idiaries  Grafintec, JIMAB and Vardar.

 

I ncluded within the brought forward investment is  100 per cent of the share capital  of Grafintec, that was

acquired during the year ended 31 December 2016 and holds  a  porWol io of four early-stage graphite

explora�on projects . At the �me of acquis i�on, Beowulf paid for 100 per cent of the share capital  of Grafintec

by issuing 2.55 mi l l ion ordinary shares  in the Company, with two further tranches  of 2.1 mi l l ion ordinary



shares  to be issued on achievement of certain performance mi lestones.

 

The first tranche of 2.1 mi l l ion ordinary shares  was  issued on the anniversary of 24 months  from the date of

the acquis i�on, in accordance and Mr Blomqvist having worked for the Company as  a  ful l -�me employee

during that period. The second tranche of shares  wi l l  be issued on comple�on of a  bankable feas ibi l i ty study

on one of the graphite projects  in the portfol io.

 

The total  number of ordinary shares  that may be issued, i f a l l  performance mi lestones  are achieved, i s  6.75

mi l l ion ordinary shares. Beowulf wi l l  i ssue up to a  further 2.1 mi l l ion addi�onal  cons idera�on shares  in the

form of a  share-based payment transac�on to the former owner, Rasmus Blomqvist at the �me the

performance mi lestone is  met. The share-based payments  fa l l  within the scope of I F RS 2 and are fa ir valued at

the grant date based on the estimated number of shares  that wi l l  vest. The fa ir value has  been prepared us ing a

Black-Scholes  pricing model  including a  share price of 6.4 pence, op�on l i fe of two years , vola�l i ty of 49.79

per cent and a risk-free rate of 0.698 per cent.

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

10.  Investments (continued)

 

There was ni l  cons idera�on recognised in the financial  s tatements  for the year ended 31 December 2024,

(2023: £Ni l ). No further share-based payment expense for the cons idera�on shares  was  recognised in the year

ended 31 December 2024 (2023: £Ni l ).

 
The remaining investment in subs idiaries  includes  the share capital  of the Company's  directly owned

subsidiaries , l i s ted below.

 

Step up interest in Vardar Minerals

The comple�on of the Vardar acquis i�on gives  the Company exposure to a  porWol io of explora�on l icences

s i tuated in the European Ter�ary calc-alkal ine Tethys  Arc most notable for i ts  lead-zinc-s i lver mining districts ,

as  wel l  as  recent porphyry related copper and gold discoveries . O n 9 Apri l  2024, a  further investment of

£340,124 paid by shares  was  made to increase the Company's  shareholding in Vardar from 61.1% to 100%

(refer to Note 16).

 

Further investment in Vardar was  recognised as  a  decrease to accumulated losses  of £433,026 (2023: increase

of £48,141).

 

£
Carrying value of non-control l ing interest 773,150
Fair value of cons ideration (340,124)
Movement in retained earnings 443,026

 

The Group cons ists  of the fol lowing subs idiary undertakings:

 
2024 2023

Name Incorporated Activi ty % holding % holding
Grafintec Oy Finland Mineral  exploration 100% 100%
Jokkmokk Iron Mines  AB Sweden Mineral  exploration 100% 100%
Beowulf Mining Sweden AB Sweden Mineral  exploration 100% 100%
Wayland Copper Limited UK Holding company 100% 65.25%
Wayland Sweden AB Sweden Mineral  exploration  100% (1)(2)65.25%
Vardar Minerals  Ltd UK Mineral  exploration 100% 61.1%
UAV Geophys ics  (UK) Ltd UK Dormant 100% (1)(2) 61.1%
Vardar Geoscience BVI Ltd Bri tish Virgin Is lands Holding company 100% (1)(2) 61.1%
Vardar Geoscience Kosovo L.L.C Kosovo Mineral  exploration 100% (1)(2) 61.1%
Vardar Exploration Kosovo L.L.C Kosovo Mineral  exploration 100% (1)(2) 61.1%
(1) Indirectly held

(2) Effective interest

 

The registered offices  of the subs idiary undertakings  as  are fol lows:

 



 

Name Registered office
Grafintec Oy Plåts lagarevägen 35 A 1, 20320 Turku, Finland
Jokkmokk Iron Mines  AB Berggatan 14, 962 32, Jokkmokk, Sweden
Beowulf Mining Sweden AB Berggatan 14, 962 32, Jokkmokk, Sweden
Wayland Copper Limited 201 Temple Chambers , 3-7 Temple Avenue, London
Wayland Sweden AB Berggatan 14, 962 32, Jokkmokk, Sweden
Vardar Minerals  Limited 201 Temple Chambers , 3-7 Temple Avenue, London
UAV Geophys ics  (UK) Ltd 201 Temple Chambers , 3-7 Temple Avenue, London
Vardar Geoscience BVI Ltd Trident Chambers , P.O. Box 146, Wickhams Cay 1 Road Town,

Bri tish Virgin Is lands
Vardar Geoscience Kosovo L.L.C Ri fat Berisha 23/10, Pristina, Republ ic of Kosovo
Vardar Exploration Kosovo L.L.C Ri fat Berisha 23/10, Pristina, Republ ic of Kosovo
 

Detai ls  on the non-control l ing interest in subs idiaries  i s  given in note 15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

11.  Loans and other financial assets

 

Group

      
Financial   

fixed
assets

£

At 1 January 2023 5,181
Foreign exchange movements 28
At 31 December 2023 5,209

At 1 January 2024 5,209
Foreign exchange movements (71)
At 31 December 2024 5,138

 

Company

Loans  to
group

undertakings
Financial

assets Total
£ £ £

At 1 January 2023 11,081,505 2,784 11,084,289
Advances  made in the year 2,757,113 - 2,757,113
ECLs  in year (1,001,537)  - (1,001,537)   
At 31 December 2023 12,837,081 2,784 12,839,865

At 1 January 2024 12,837,081 2,784 12,839,865
Advances  made in the year 2,633,108 - 2,633,108
ECLs  in year (477,226) - (477,226)
At 31 December 2024 14,992,963 2,784 14,995,747

 

Reconciliation of provisions against receivables arising from lifetime ECLs

31 December
2023

Current year
movement

31 December
2024

£ £ £
     

ECLs 3,107,786 467,651 3,575,437
Total  provis ion aris ing from ECLs 3,107,786 467,651 3,575,437

 

The Directors  have also assessed the cash flow scenarios  of the above cons idera�ons. Es�ma�ons were made

regarding the credit risk of the counterparty and the underlying probabi l i ty of default in each of the credit loss

scenarios . The scenarios  iden�fied by management included P roduc�on, Divestment, F i re-sale and Fai lure.

These scenarios  cons idered technical  data, necessary l icences  to be awarded, the Company's  abi l i ty to ra ise

finance, and abi l i ty to sel l  the project. The expected credit loss  i s  calculated based on the F ire-Sale and Fai lure

outcomes, being the outcomes with an expected value of less  than the carrying value of loans. A reasonable

change in the probabi l i ty weigh�ngs  of 3% to fa i lure and fire-sale would result in further impairment of



change in the probabi l i ty weigh�ngs  of 3% to fa i lure and fire-sale would result in further impairment of

£923,585 (2023: £789,297).

 

Further detai ls  of the transactions  in the year are shown within related parties  disclosure note 25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

12.  Right of use assets

 
Group Motor

vehicles
 Bui ldings Total

£ £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2023 - 29,774 29,774
Additions - 77,924 77,924
Disposals - (11,493) (11,493)
Foreign exchange movements - (2,305) (2,305)
At 31 December 2023 - 93,900 93,900

Amortisation
At 1 January 2023 - 10,496 10,496
Charge - 29,478 29,478
Disposals - (9,577) (9,577)
Foreign exchange movements - 345 345
At 31 December 2023 - 30,742 30,742

Cost
At 1 January 2024 - 93,900 93,900
Additions 28,572 - 28,572
Disposals - (16,868) (16,868)
Foreign exchange movements (2,673) (6,396) (9,069)
At 31 December 2024 25,899 70,636 96,535

Amortisation
At 1 January 2024 - 30,742 30,742
Charge 5,165 32,040 37,205
Disposals - (16,868) (16,868)
Foreign exchange movements (129) (2,748) (2,877)
At 31 December 2024 5,036 43,166 48,202

Net book value
At 31 December 2024 20,863 27,470 48,333
At 31 December 2023 - 63,158 63,158

 

13.  Trade and other receivables

 
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Other receivables 126,981 88,180 - -
VAT 55,249 51,315 10,832 37,515
Prepayments  and accrued income 10,282 12,509 9,318 11,640

192,512 152,004 20,150 49,155

 

Included in other receivables  is  a  deposit of £19,026 held by Finnish regulatory authori ties  (2023: £17,724).

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

14.  Cash and cash equivalents

 
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Bank accounts 881,349 905,555 714,339 794,909
881,349 905,555 714,339 794,909

 



 
15.  Non-controlling interests

 

The Group had materia l  non-control l ing interests  aris ing from i ts  subs idiaries  Wayland Copper Limited and

Vardar Minerals  Limited, which were both consol idated from 12 November 2024 and 9 Apri l  2024,

respectively. These non-control l ing interests  can be summarised as  fol lows;

 
2024 2023

£ £

Balance at 1 January 514,430 568,732
Total  comprehensive loss  a l located to NCI (37,784) (102,443)
Effect of step acquis i tions (476,646) 48,141
Total - 514,430

 
2024 2023

£ £

Wayland Copper Limited - (164,573)
Vardar Minerals  Limited - 679,003
Total - 514,430

 

Wayland Copper Limited is  a  100% per cent owned subs idiary of the Company that had a materia l  non-

control l ing interest ("NC I ") prior to the acquis i�on of the remaining NC I  during the year. P rior to the

acquis i tion the Company owned 65.25% of Wayland Copper Limited.

 

Summarised financial  information reflecting 100 per cent of  Wayland's  relevant figures  is  set out below:

 
2024 2023

£ £

Administrative expenses (2,039) (2,315)
Loss  after tax (2,039) (2,315)

Loss  a l located to NCI (709) (805)
Other comprehensive loss  a l located to NCI (247) (102)
Total  comprehensive loss  a l located to NCI (956) (907)

Current assets 10,159 12,973
Current l iabi l i ties (486,498) (486,563)
Net l iabi l i ties (476,339) (473,590)

Net cash outflow - -

Non-control l ing interest - (164,573)

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

15.  Non-controlling interests (continued)

 

Vardar Minerals  Limited is  a  100% per cent owned subs idiary of the Company that had a materia l  non-

control l ing interest ("NC I ") prior to the acquis i�on on 9 Apri l  2024. P rior to the acquis i�on the Company

owned 61.1% of Vardar Minerals  Limited.

 

Summarised financial  informa�on reflec�ng 100 per cent of the Vardar Minerals  relevant figures  is  set out

below:

 
2024 2023

£ £

Administrative expenses (117,311) (112,400)
Loss  after tax (117,311) (112,400)

Loss  a l located to NCI (16,974) (73,145)
Other comprehensive income al located to NCI (19,852) (28,391)
Total  comprehensive loss  a l located to NCI (36,826) (101,536)



Current assets 14,436 20,195
Non-current assets 2,349,391 2,388,133
Current l iabi l i ties (425,333) (142,686)
Net assets 1,938,494 2,265,642

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 1,636 (51,783)

Non-control l ing interest - 679,003

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

16.  Share capital

 
31 December

2024
31 December

2023
£ £

Al lotted, i ssued and ful ly paid
Ordinary shares  of 1p each - 11,571,875
Ordinary shares  of 5p each 1,942,240 -
Deferred A shares  of 0.9p each       10,414,687 -

12,356,927 11,571,875
 
The number of shares  in issue was as  fol lows:
  
 Number

of Ordinary
shares

Balance at 1 January 2023 831,710,636
Issued during the year 325,476,827
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,157,187,463
Effect of share consol idation (1,134,043,714)
Balance after share consol idation 23,143,749
Issued during the year 15,701,041
Balance at 31 December 2024 38,844,790

 
Number

of Deferred A
shares

Balance at 1 January 2023 -
Issued during the year -
Balance at 31 December 2023 -
Issued during the year 1,157,187,463
Balance at 31 December 2024 1,157,187,463

 

O n 5 March 2024, each of the exis�ng ordinary shares  of 1p each in capital  of the Company was sub-divided

and re-class ified into 0.1p New O rdinary Share and 0.9p Deferred A Share. The deferred A shares  do not en�tle

the holders  thereof to receive no�ce of or a/end and vote at any general  mee�ng of the Company or to receive

dividends or other distribu�ons or to par�cipate in any return on capital  on a winding up unless  the assets  of

the Company are in excess  of £100,000,000. The Company retains  the right to purchase the deferred shares

from any shareholder for a  cons ideration of one pound in aggregate for a l l  that shareholder's  deferred shares.

 

O n 3 Apri l  2024, the Company announced the comple�on of the Rights  I ssue with 12,500,000 ordinary shares

issued rais ing £3.8 mi l l ion before expenses. I n addi�on to this , 1,571,172 ordinary shares  were issued as  part

of a  P rimaryBid offer to exis�ng UK  retai l  investors  and a subscrip�on by Board and management rais ing a

total  of £0.48 mi l l ion before expenses.

 

O n 9 Apri l  2024, the Company issued 1,046,535 ordinary shares  to the Vardar minori ty holders  for the

consol idation of 100 per cent ownership of Vardar.

 

On 14 June 2024, the Company consol idated i ts  ordinary share capital  resulting in every 50 existing ordinary

shares  of £0.001 each being consol idated into 1 new ordinary share of £0.05 each. On 31 December 2024, the

Company had 38,844,790 Ordinary Shares  in issue (31 December 2023: 23,143,749).
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16.  Share capital (continued)



16.  Share capital (continued)

 
Share

capital
Share

premium Total
£ £ £

At 1 January 2024 11,571,875 27,141,444 38,713,319
Issue of new shares  - cash 732,725 2,736,9601 3,469,685
Issue of new shares  - acquis i tion 52,327 - 52,327
At 31 December 2024 12,356,927 29,878,404 42,235,331

 

 
Share

capital
Share

premium Total
£ £ £

At 1 January 2023 8,317,106 24,689,311 33,006,417
Issue of new shares 3,254,769 2,452,1332 5,706,902
At 31 December 2023 11,571,875 27,141,444 38,713,319

 

Al l  i ssues  are for cash unless  otherwise stated.

 

1Stated net of i ssue costs  of £920,900 of which £776,421 was paid in cash and £144,479 in ordinary shares  of

the company.

 

2Stated net of i ssue costs  of £1,202,696 of which £704,587 was paid in cash and £498,109 in ordinary shares

of the company.

 

The Company has  removed the l imit on the number of shares  that i t i s  authorised to issue in accordance with

the Companies  Act 2006.

 

There were 15,701,041 shares  issued in 2024. There were 6,509,537 shares  issued in 2023.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

17.  Share-based payments

 

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2,560,000 op�ons were granted (year ended 31 December 2023:

245,000). The op�ons outstanding as  at 31 December 2024 have an exercise price in the range of 37.5 pence to

262.5 pence (31 December 2023: 50.00 pence to 367.5 pence) and a weighted average remaining contractual

l i fe of 8 years , 284 days  (2023: 5 years , 294 days).

 

The share-based payments  expense for the op�ons for the year ended 31 December 2024 was £326,628 (2023:

£387,668).

 

The fa ir value of share op�ons granted and outstanding were measured us ing the Black-Scholes  model , with

the fol lowing inputs :

 
2024 2024 2024 2023 2022 2022

Fair value at grant
date

24p 25.5p 15p 26p
179.5p 156p

Share price 35p 36.5p 35p 84p 200p 200p
Exercise price 37.5p 37.5p 37.5p 103p 50p 262.5p
Expected volati l i ty 77.5% 79.9% 77.5% 55.2% 100.0% 100.0%
Expected option l i fe 6 years 6 years 2 years 2.5 years 5 years 6 years
Contractual  option l i fe 10 years 10 years 10 years 5 years 10 years 10 years
Risk free interest rate 4.080% 4.100% 4.480% 4.800% 4.520% 4.480%

 

The inputs  above have been adjusted for the effect of a  50 to 1 share consol idation.

 

The op�ons issued wi l l  be se/led in the equity of the Company when exercised and have a ves�ng period of

one year from date of grant.

 
Weighted

average



Reconciliation of options in issue Number

average
exercise

price(£'s )

Outstanding at 1 January 2023 650,000 2.75
Granted during the period 245,000 1.05
Outstanding at 31 December 2023 895,000 2.30
Exercisable at 31 December 2023 745,000 2.10

 

Reconciliation of options in issue Number

Weighted
average
exercise

price(£'s )

Outstanding at 1 January 2024 895,000 2.30
Granted during the period 2,560,000 0.38
Lapsed during the period (285,000) 3.31
Outstanding at 31 December 2024 3,170,000 0.65
Exercisable at 31 December 2024 688,333 1.51

 

No warrants  were granted during the year (2023: Ni l ).

 

The reconci l iation of options  in issue presented for the year ended 31 December 2023 has  been retrospectively

adjusted for the effect of a  50 to 1 share consol idation.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

18.  Reserves

 

The fol lowing is  a  descrip�on of each of the reserve accounts  that comprise equity shareholders '

funds:

 
Share capital The share capital  comprises  the issued ordinary shares  of the Company at par.

Share premium The share premium comprises  the excess  value recognised from the issue of
ordinary shares  above par value.

Capital  contribution reserve The capital  contribu�on reserve represents  historic non-cash contribu�ons to the
Company from equity holders .

Share-based payment reserve Cumula�ve fa ir value of op�ons charged to the consol idated income statement net
of transfers  to the profit or loss  reserve on exercised and cancel led/lapsed
options.

Trans lation reserve Cumula�ve gains  and losses  on trans la�ng the net assets  of overseas  opera�ons
to the presentation currency.

Merger reserve The balance on the merger reserve represents  the fa ir value of the cons idera�on
given in excess  of the nominal  value of the ordinary shares  issued in an
acquis i�on made by the issue of shares  where the transac�on qual ifies  for merger
rel ief under Section 612 of the Companies  Act 2006.

Accumulated losses Accumulated losses  comprise the Group's  cumula�ve accoun�ng profits  and
losses  s ince inception.
 
 

                                                                                   

19.  Trade and other payables

 
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Current:
Trade payables 378,868 307,909 20,873 43,511
Other payables 11,036 29,900 2,601 851
Social  securi ty and other taxes 22,264 14,631 10,685 13,224
Accruals 95,956 81,222 89,370 70,632

508,124 433,662 123,529 128,218

 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

20.  Lease liabilities

 

Nature of leasing activities

Vardar Geoscience leases  bui ldings  located in Str. Highway Prishtina Mitrovice Vi l lage Shupkove No.2, Kosovo.

This  lease ended during the year and the contract changed to a  monthly rol l ing lease which has  been

considered exempt under IFRS 16 based on the short-term lease exemption.

 

Jokkmokk Mining leases  office premises  located in 962 31 Jokkmokk, Sweden and motor vehicles  for use by

employees.

 

2024 2023
No. No.

Number of active leases 2 2

 

Lease liabilities at year end

Group 2024 2023
 £ £
Current
Lease l iabi l i ties 10,016 22,575

Non-current
Lease l iabi l i ties 20,727 15,053

Total lease liabilities 30,743 37,628

 

Analysis of lease liabilities

Group Motor
vehicles Bui ldings Total

 £ £ £
 

At 1 January 2023 - 19,377 19,377
Additions - 43,126 43,126
Interest expense - 2,420 2,420
Lease payments - (23,648) (23,648)
Lease disposals - (1,974) (1,974)
Foreign exchange movements - (1,673) (1,673)
At 31 December 2023 - 37,628 37,628

Additions 22,001 - 22,001
Interest expense 648 1,539 2,187
Lease payments (3,879) (23,253) (27,132)
Foreign exchange movements (1,978) (1,963) (3,941)
At 31 December 2024 16,792 13,951 30,743

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

20.  Lease liabilities (continued)

 

Analysis of gross value of lease liabilities

Maturity of the lease l iabi l i ties  i s  analysed as  fol lows:

 

 2024
 £
 

Within 1 year 10,016
Later than 1 year and less  than 5 years 20,727
After 5 years -
At 31 December 2024 30,743

 

The total  cash outflow for leases  in 2024 was £27,133 (2023: £25,637).

 

21.  Borrowings

 



 
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Opening balance - 1,845,947 - 1,845,947
Funds advanced, net of
commiss ion and transaction costs

723,881 - 723,881 -

Finance costs 59,147 195,304 59,147 195,304
Effect of FX (24,709) (2,818) (24,709) (2,818)
Funds repaid (758,319) (2,038,433) (758,319) (2,038,433)

- - - -

 

O n 14 February 2024, the Company secured a Bridging loan from Nordic investors  of S EK  10.0 mi l l ion

(approximately £0.76 mi l l ion). The Loan had a fixed interest rate of 1.5 per cent per stated 30-day period

during the dura�on.  Accrued interest was  compounding. The Loan had a commitment fee of 5.0 per cent and a

Maturi ty Date of 31 May 2024. The bridging loan principal  and interest total l ing £0.758 was repaid early in

Apri l  2024 us ing part of the proceeds from the capital  ra ise on the right i ssue.
 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

22.  Changes in liabilities from financing activities

 

Group Leases Borrowings Total
£ £ £

Opening balance 1 January 2024 37,628 37,628
 

Cash movements
Borrowings  advancements - 723,881 723,881
Lease payments (27,132) - (27,132)
Funds repaid - (758,319) (758,319)  
Finance cost 2,187 59,147 61,334  
Effect of FX (3,941) (24,709) (28,650)  
Total 8,742 - 8,742

Non-cash movements
Lease additions 22,001 - 22,001
Clos ing balance 31 December 2024 30,743 - 30,743

 
 

Group Leases Borrowings Total
£ £ £

Opening balance 1 January 2023 19,377 1,845,947 1,865,324
 

Cash movements
Lease payments (23,648) - (23,648)
Total (4,271) 1,845,947 1,841,676

Non-cash movements
Lease additions 43,126 - 43,126
Lease disposals (1,974) - (1,974)
Finance cost 2,420 195,304 197,724
Funds repaid - (2,038,433) (2,038,433)
Effect of FX (1,673) (2,818) (4,491)
Clos ing balance 31 December 2023 37,628 - 37,628

 
Company Borrowings Total

£ £

Opening balance 1 January 2024 - -
 

Cash movements
Borrowings  advancements 723,881 723,881
Finance cost 59,147 59,147  
Funds repaid (758,319) (758,319)  
Effect of FX (24,709) (24,709)  

723,881 723,881
Clos ing balance 31 December 2024 - -



 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

22.  Changes in liabilities from financing activities (continued)

 
Company Borrowings Total

£ £

Opening balance 1 January 2023 1,845,947 1,845,947
 

Non-cash movements
Funds repaid (2,038,433) (2,038,433)
Finance cost 195,304 195,304
Effect of FX (2,818) (2,818)
Clos ing balance 31 December 2023 - -

 

23.  Financial instruments

 

The Group and Company's  financial  instruments  comprise cash and cash equivalents , loans  and other

financial  assets , trade and other receivables , trade and other payables , borrowings  and lease l iabi l i�es  that

arise directly from i ts  operations.

 

The Group and Company hold the fol lowing financial  instruments:

 
Group

At 31 December 2024
Held at

amortised cost

Fair value
through profi t

and loss Total
£ £ £

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 881,349 - 881,349
Trade and other receivables 126,982 - 126,982
Other financial  assets 5,138 3,250 8,388

1,013,469 3,250 1,016,719

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 485,865 - 485,865
Lease l iabi l i ty 30,743 - 30,743

516,608 - 516,608

 
Company

At 31 December 2024
Held at

amortised cost

Fair value
through profi t

and loss Total
£ £ £

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 714,339 - 714,339

Loans to group undertakings 14,992,963 - 14,992,963
Other financial  assets 2,784 3,250 6,034

15,710,086 3,250 15,713,336

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 112,844 - 112,844

 112,844 - 112,844

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

23.  Financial instruments (continued)

 
Group

At 31 December 2023

Held at
amortised cost

Fair value
through profi t

and loss Total
£ £ £

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 905,555 - 905,555
Trade and other receivables 90,965 - 90,965
Other financial  assets 5,209 6,563 11,772

1,001,729 6,563 1,008,292



1,001,729 6,563 1,008,292

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 420,808 - 420,808
Lease l iabi l i ty 37,628 - 37,628

458,436 - 458,436

 
Company

At 31 December 2023
Held at

amortised cost

Fair value
through profi t

and loss Total
£ £ £

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 794,909 - 794,909

Loans to group undertakings 12,837,080 - 12,837,080
Other financial  assets 2,784 6,563 9,347

13,634,773 6,563 13,641,336

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 116,743 - 116,743

116,743 - 116,743

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

23.  Financial instruments (continued)

 

The carrying values  of the Group's  financial  l iabi l i�es  measured at amor�sed cost represents  a  reasonable

approximation of their fa i r values.

 

The main purpose of these financial  instruments  is  to finance the Group's  and Company's  opera�ons. The

Board regularly reviews and agrees  pol icies  for managing the level  of risk aris ing from the Group's  financial

instruments  as  summarised below.

 

a)     Market risk

Market risk i s  the risk that changes  in market prices , such as  commodity prices , foreign exchange rates ,

interest rates  and equity prices  wi l l  affect the Group's  and Company's  income or the value of i ts  holdings  in

financial  instruments .

 

i)      Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates  interna�onal ly and is  exposed to currency risk aris ing on cash and cash equivalents ,

receivables  and payables  denominated in a  currency other than the respec�ve func�onal  currencies  of the

Group enti ties , which are primari ly Swedish Krona, Euro and Sterl ing. The Group manages  foreign currency risk

by paying for foreign denominated invoices  in the currency in which they are denominated. The Group's  and

Company's  net exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date is  as  fol lows:

 
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Net foreign currency financial
assets :

Swedish Krona 581,691 427,207 596,681 484,839
Euro 37,386 (25,804) 56,391 (2,960)
Total  net exposure 619,077 401,403 653,072 481,879

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

23.  Financial instruments (continued)

 

Sensitivity analysis

 

A 10 per cent strengthening of sterl ing against the Group's  primary currencies  at 31 December 2024 would



A 10 per cent strengthening of sterl ing against the Group's  primary currencies  at 31 December 2024 would

have decreased equity and profi t or loss  by the amounts  shown below:

 

Group
Profi t or loss Equity

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Swedish Krona (58,169) (42,721) (58,169) (42,721)
Euro (3,739) 2,580 (3,739) 2,580
Total (61,908) (40,141) (61,908) (40,141) 

 

Company
Profi t or loss Equity

2024 2023 2024 2023
£ £ £ £

Swedish Krona (59,668) (48,484) (59,668) (48,484)
Euro (5,639) 296 (5,639) 296
Total (65,307) (48,188) (65,307) (48,188) 

 

A 10 per cent weakening of sterl ing against the Group's  primary currencies  at 31 December 2024 would have

an equal  but opposite effect on the amounts  shown above.

 

ii)     Interest rate risk

The Group's  and Company's  pol icy is  to retain i ts  surplus  funds  on the most advantageous term of deposit

avai lable up to a  12-month maximum duration. Given that the Directors  do not cons ider that interest income is

s ignificant in respect of the Group's  and Company's  opera�ons no sens i�vity analys is  has  been provided in

respect of any potentia l  fluctuations  in interest rates .

 

I nterest rate risk i s  the risk that the value of a  financial  instrument or cash flows associated with the

instrument wi l l  fluctuate due to changes  in market interest rates . I nterest rate risk arises  from interest bearing

financial  assets  and l iabi l i�es  that the Group uses. The Group's  interest-bearing financial  l iabi l i ty in the year

is  the bridging loan finance entered into in the prior year and repaid in the current year; this  was  at a  fixed

rate of interest. The interest-bearing financial  l iabi l i ty in the prior year was  the bridging loan finance, which

was at a  fixed rate of interest.

 

b)    Credit risk

The Group's  principal  financial  assets  are the cash and cash equivalents  and loans  and receivables , as

recognised in the statement of financial  pos i�on, and which represent the Group's  maximum exposure to

credit risk in rela�on to financial  assets . The Group and Company pol icy for managing i ts  exposure to credit

risk with cash and cash equivalents  i s  to only deposit surplus  cash with financial  ins�tu�ons that hold a

Standard & Poor's , BBB- rating as  a  minimum.

 

The Company has  made unsecured interest-free loans  to i ts  subs idiaries . Although they are repayable on

demand, they are unl ikely to be repaid un�l  the projects  are successful  and the subs idiaries  start to generate

revenues. An assessment of the expected credit loss  aris ing on intercompany loans  is  detai led in note 11.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

23.  Financial instruments (continued)

 

The amounts  used by the subs idiaries  are as  fol lows:

 
2024 2023

£ £

Jokkmokk Iron Mines  AB 11,511,283 10,105,806
Vardar Minerals  Limited 240,568 -
Grafintec Oy 3,241,111 2,656,618
Total 14,992,962 12,762,424

 

Reconciliation of provisions against receivables arising from lifetime ECLs



1 January
2024

Movement in
the year

31 December
2024

£ £ £
     

ECLs 3,107,786 467,651 3,575,437
Total  provis ion aris ing from ECLs 3,107,786 467,651 3,575,437

 

1 January
2023

Movement in
the year

31 December
2023

£ £ £
     

ECLs 2,106,249 1,001,537 3,107,786
Total  provis ion aris ing from ECLs 2,106,249 1,001,537 3,107,786

 

i)      Commodity price risk

The principal  ac�vity of the Group is  the explora�on for i ron ore in Sweden, graphite in F inland and other

prospec�ve minerals  in Kosovo, and the principal  market risk facing the Group is  an adverse movement in the

price of such commodi�es/industria l  minerals . Any long-term adverse movement in market prices  would affect

the commercial  viabi l i ty of the Group's  various  projects . The Board looks  to mi�gate this  risk through the

divers i fication of di fferent prospective minerals . 

 

c)     Liquidity risk

To date the Group and Company have rel ied on shareholder funding and loan funding to finance opera�ons. 

As  the Group and Company have finite cash resources  and no materia l  income, the l iquidity risk i s  s ignificant

and is  managed by controls  over expenditure and cash resources. The Group and Company have minimal

exposure to l iquidity risk as  trade and other payables  a l l  have a maturi ty of less  than one year, the only

excep�on being the lease l iabi l i ty per note 20. The ra�onale for the prepara�on of the accounts  on a going

concern bas is  i s  detai led in the Report of the Directors .

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

23.  Financial instruments (continued)

 

The undiscounted contractual  maturi ties  of the Group's  financial  l iabi l i ties  are set out below:

 
31 December 2024

Less  than 3
months

Between 3
and 12

months
Between 1

and 2 years
£ £ £

Trade and other payables 508,124 - -
Lease l iabi l i ties 5,505 15,222 10,016

513,629 15,222 10,016

 
31 December 2023

Less  than 3
months

Between 3
and 12

months
Between 1

and 2 years
£ £ £

Trade and other payables 433,662 - -
Lease l iabi l i ties 6,282 17,940 15,597

439,944 17,940 15,597

 

d)    Capital management

 

The Groups capital  s tructure cons ists  of i ssued capital  and reserves  and accumulated losses . The Board's

pol icy is  to preserve a strong capital  base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to

safeguard the future development of the bus iness , whi lst balancing these objec�ves  with the efficient use of

capital .

 

The Group does  not have any external ly imposed capital  requirements .

 



Group

 
Net working capital 2024 2023

£ £

Cash and cash equivalents 881,349 905,555
Trade and other payables (508,124) (433,662)
Lease l iabi l i ties (30,733) (37,628)
Net cash 342,492 434,265  

Total  equity 16,671,432 15,622,280

Net cash to equity ratio 2.05% 2.78%

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

23.  Financial instruments (continued)

 

Company

 
Net working capital 2024 2023

£ £

Cash and cash equivalents 714,339 794,909
Trade and other payables (123,529) (128,218)
Net cash 590,810 666,691

Total  equity 20,036,136 17,524,553

Net cash to equity ratio 2.95% 3.80%
 

24.  Segment reporting

 

The Group has  only one primary bus iness  ac�vity being the explora�on for, and the development of i ron ore,

graphite and other mineral  deposits . The Group also reports  by geographical  reportable segment in the

countries  in which i t operates . The Group's  explora�on and development ac�vi�es  are focused on three

countries , Sweden, F inland and Kosovo, with support provided from the UK  headquarters . I n presen�ng

informa�on on the bas is  of geographical  reportable segments , the loss  for the year, key statement of financial

pos i�on data, property, plant and equipment addi�ons and deferred explora�on addi�ons is  based on the

geographical  loca�on of the assets . The Group has  adopted I F RS 8 'O pera�ng Segments '. I F RS 8 requires

opera�ng segments  to be iden�fied on the bas is  of internal  reports  that are regularly reviewed by the chief

operating decis ion maker to a l locate resources  and assets .

 
2024 Sweden Finland Kosovo UK Total

£ £ £ £ £

Intangible assets 10,271,531 2,380,385 3,371,106 - 16,023,022
Other non-current assets 50,940 - 55,708 6,758 113,406
Current assets 204,306 128,771 12,146 728,638 1,073,861
Liabi l i ties (249,938) (60,723) (99,209) (128,997) (538,867)
Finance income (197) - - (3,207) (3,404)
Finance costs 1,957 - 230 59,147 61,334
Grant income (166) (3,395) - - (3,561)
Intangible asset additions 1,527,012 537,307 127,552 - 2,191,871

Impairment - 72,563 - - 72,563
Expenses1 127,033 370,779 79,811 1,218,350 1,795,973
Loss  for the year 126,670 367,384 79,811 1,215,143 1,789,008
Total  comprehensive loss 850,690 473,230 208,107 1,215,144 2,747,171
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24.  Segment reporting (continued)

 



2023 Sweden Finland Kosovo UK
Total

£ £ £ £
£

Intangible assets 9,481,130 1,944,354 3,372,349 - 14,797,833
Other non-current assets 57,747 - 93,721 11,217 162,685
Current assets 72,699 132,412 6,218 846,230 1,057,559
Liabi l i ties (159,504) (39,950) (114,247) (157,589) (471,290)
Finance income (268) - - (7,655) (7,923)
Finance costs 1,686 - 734 195,304 197,724
Grant income - (96,750) - - (96,750)
Gain on disposal  of investment - - - (6,563) (6,563)
Intangible asset additions 1,898,312 208,876 299,493 - 2,406,681
Impairment 350,158 - - - 350,158
Expenses1 549,084 404,362 85,707 2,009,992 3,049,145
Loss  for the year 548,816 307,612 85,707 1,995,774 2,937,909
Total  comprehensive loss 660,187 345,386 133,511 1,995,775 3,134,859
 

1Expenses  include administrative expenses, impairment and finance costs .

 
25.  Related party disclosures

 

Transactions with subsidiaries

During the year, cash advances  of £1,633,485 (2023: £2,153,998) were made to Jokkmokk I ron Mines  AB and

the company net se/led costs  of £59,861 (2023: net se/led costs  £33,643). The advances  are held on an

interest free intragroup loan which has  no terms for repayment. At the year end the intragroup loan amounted

to £13,872,661 (2023: £12,179,315).

 

Beowulf Mining Sweden AB received cash advances  of £Ni l  (2023: £31,879) and the company net se/led costs

of £Ni l  (2023: net se/led costs  of £22,318). The advances  are held on an interest free intragroup loan which

has  no terms for repayment. At the year end the intragroup loan amounted to £790,632 (2023: £790,632).

 

Grafintec O y received cash advances  of £650,683 (2023: £430,213) and net se/led costs  of £53,525 (2023: net

se/led costs  of £30,918) with the Company. The advances  are held on an interest free intragroup loan which

has  no terms for repayment. At the year end the intragroup loan amounted to £3,906,643 (2023: £3,202,436).

 

Vardar received cash advances  of £169,010 (2023: £68,572) and net se/led costs  of £53,324 (2023: £1,374)

with the Company. The advances  are held on an interest free intragroup loan which has  no terms for

repayment. At the year end the intragroup loan amounted to £326,133 (2023: £100,155).

 

I n accordance with i ts  service agreement, Grafintec charges  Beowulf Mining plc for �me incurred by i ts  staff

on explora�on projects  held by other en��es in the Group. I n turn Beowulf Mining plc recharges  the other

enti ties  involved.

 

I n addi�on, Beowulf Mining plc charges  en��es in the Group for �me and expenses  spent by Directors  on

providing services . An arm's  length margin has  been included at en�ty level , but this  i s  subsequently

el iminated on consol idation.

 

The Company has  made unsecured interest-free loans  to i ts  subs idiaries . Although they are repayable on

demand, they are unl ikely to be repaid un�l  the projects  becomes successful  and the subs idiaries  start to

generate revenues. An assessment of the expected credit loss  aris ing on intercompany loans  is  detai led in note

11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 

25.  Related party disclosures (continued)

 

Transactions with other related parties

Key management personnel  include al l  D irectors  and those who have authori ty and responsibi l i ty for

planning, direc�ng and control l ing the ac�vi�es  of the en�ty, the aggregate compensa�on paid to key

management personnel  of the Company is  set below.

 
2024 2023



2024 2023
£ £

Short-term employee benefi ts  (including employers ' national  insurance
contributions)

587,392 847,791

Loss  of office - 210,000
Post-reti rement benefi ts 54,721 67,288
Share-based payments 299,706 321,534
Insurance - 526

941,819 1,447,139

 

Short-term benefits  include £42,451 (2023: £144,711) paid to Hol is�c P ush AB, a  Company control led by Johan

Röstin. The amount owed at year end was £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ).

 

Loss  of office in the prior year comprises  a  se/lement amount in rela�on to Kurt Budge's  res igna�on, which

was agreed on 21 July 2023. I t represents  the remainder of the no�ce period due to Mr Budge as  he con�nued

to be paid unti l  the date the agreement was reached.

 

26.  Capital commitments

 

As  an explora�on and development company, the Company has  a  porWol io of explora�on projects  held

through subs idiary companies  relevant to the local  opera�ons of the bus iness . Al l  of the Company's  bus iness

interests  carry financial  commitments  to remain in good standing which are funded directly by the Company.

 

Al l  the subs idiary companies  require �mely submiss ion of regulatory fil ings , financial  accounts  and tax

submiss ions.   Al l  explora�on projects  are held under explora�on l icences  and permits , against which during

the year renewals  are expected to be processed with associated renewal  fees  attaching.

 

27.  Contingent liabilities

 
At 31 December 2024, the Company has  a  poss ible obl igation to pay up to two years  annual  salary (£420,000)

to Ed Bowie in the event of a  change in control .

 
28.  Events after the reporting date

 

O n 21 March 2025, in conjunc�on with the Company's  right i ssue, the Company entered into a  short-term

bridging loan of S EK  10 mi l l ion (approx. £740k) with the underwriters  of the rights  i ssue to ensure that the

Company had sufficient financial  resources  to con�nue advancing i ts  projects  ahead of the right i ssue being

final ised. The bridging loan accrues  interest of 1.5 per cent per 30-day period, has  an administra�ve charge of

5 per cent and is  repayable on 30 June 2025.

 

O n 8 May 2025 the Company announced the comple�on of the capital  ra ise with a  total  of £2.2 mi l l ion (S EK

28.1 mi l l ion) gross  ra ised to fund the development of the Company's  assets  through their next key valua�on

milestones. The net funds  raised after the loan repayment and share issue transaction costs  are £1.0 mi l l ion.

This information is provided by RNS, the news service of the London Stock Exchange. RNS is approved by the Financial Conduct Authority to act as a
Primary Information Provider in the United Kingdom. Terms and conditions relating to the use and distribution of this information may apply. For further
information, please contact rns@lseg.com or visit www.rns.com.

RNS may use your IP address to confirm compliance with the terms and conditions, to analyse how you engage with the information contained in this
communication, and to share such analysis on an anonymised basis with others as part of our commercial services. For further information about how
RNS and the London Stock Exchange use the personal data you provide us, please see our Privacy Policy.
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